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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

)
PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, ) No. S114228
Plaintiff and Respondent, )
)
v. ) (Los Angeles County
) Sup. Ct. No. BA240170)
ANH THE DUONG, )
Defendant and Appellant. )
)

APPELLANT DUONG’S OPENING BRIEF
STATEMENT OF APPEALABILITY

This is an automatic appeal from a judgment of death. Cal. Pen. Code §1239.!
The appeal is taken from a judgment which finally disposes of all issues between the
parties.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 24, 2001, the Los Angeles County Grand Jury indicted Appellant
Anh The Duong (hereafter “Duong”) for the following offenses:

Count I alleged that on or about May 6, 1999, Duong wilfully murdered Minh
Dieu Tram in violation of section 187(a) and that the offense was a serious felony within
the meaning of 1192.7(c)). 1:CT 117. Count I also alleged that in the commission of the
offense, Duong personally and intentionally discharged a firearm which proximately
caused the death of Minh Dieu Tram within the meaning of section 12022.53(d);
personally and intentionally discharged a firearm within the meaning of section

12022.53(¢)); and personally used a firearm within the meaning of sections 12022.5(a)(1)

' All statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise
indicated.



and 12022.53(b). 1:CT 118.

Count II alleged that on or about May 6, 1999, Duong wilfully murdered The
Hao Tang in violation of section 187(a) and that the offense was a serious felony within
the meaning of 1192.7(¢c)). 1:CT 118. Count II also alleged that in the commission of the
offense, Duong personally and intentionally discharged a firearm which proximately
caused the death of The Hao Tang within the meaning of section 12022.53(d); personally
and intentionally discharged a firearm within the meaning of section 12022.53©); and
personally used a firearm within the meaning of sections 12022.5(a)(1) and 12022.53(b).
1:CT 118-119.

Count III alleged Duong wilfully murdered Robert A. Norman in violation of
section 187(a) and that the offense was a serious felony within the meaning of 1192.7(c)).
1:CT 119. Count III also alleged that in the commission of the offense, Duong personally
and intentionally discharged a firearm which proximately caused the death of Robert A.
Norman within the meaning of section 12022.53(d); personally and intentionally
discharged a firearm within the meaning of section 12022.53(c)); and personally used a
firearm within the meaning of sections 12022.5(a)(1) and 12022.53(b). 1:CT 119.

Count IV alleged Duong wilfully murdered Lan Thi Dang in violation of section
187(a) and that the offense was a serious felony within the meaning of 1192.7(c)). 1:CT
120. Count IV also alleged that in the commission of the offense, Duong personally and
intentionally discharged a firearm which proximately caused the death of Lan Thi Dang
within the meaning of section 12022.53(d); personally and intentionally discharged a
firearm within the meaning of section 12022.53(c)); and personally used a firearm within
the meaning of sections 12022.5(a)(1) and 12022.53(b). 1:CT 120.

The indictment further alleged that Counts I, II, III, and IV together are a special
circumstance (multiple murder) within the meaning of section 190.2(a)(3).

After Duong’s July 16, 2001 arrest, the Los Angeles County Public Defender
was appointed to represent him. 10:CT 2560. On September 10, 2001, Duong attempted



suicide. 10:CT 2633. He was unconscious for aboﬁt a month during which he developed
a serious lung infection from being on a ventilator. 10:CT 2643, 2645-2646. On October
23,2001, Duong was brought into court on a gurney. 10:CT 2648. On October 29, 2001,
the public defender withdrew from Duong’s case due to a conflict of interest. 1:RT Al.
The same day, Gary Meastas was appointed to represent Duong in his capital case. 1:RT
Al.

On Duong’s motion, the trial court entered a written order that all objections
made by Duong in pretrial or trial proceedings would encompass all state and federal
statutory and constitutional grounds. 1:CT 249-250.

Jury selection in this case began on October 3, 2002. 2 RT 192. On October 4,
2002, the trial was continued. 2:RT 318. Jury selection resumed on January 7, 2003.
4:RT 451. The jury’s guilt phase deliberations commenced on January 28, 2003. 13:RT
2125. On January 30, 2003, the jury found Duong guilty of three counts of first degree
murder and also the second degree murder of Lan Thi Dang. 4:CT 1048-1052; 13:RT
2143-2146. The jury found all the firearm enhancements true. 4 CT 1048-1052; 13 RT
2143-2147. In addition, the jury found true the multiple murder special circumstance.
4:CT 1053; 13 RT 2147.

On January 31, 2003, defense counsel informed the trial court that Mr. Duong
wished to waive his presence at the penalty phase. The trial court permitted him to do so.
14:RT 2184-2194, 2197-2198. Mr. Duong personally asked the trial court if he could
“accept the D.P. instead of going through this.” 14:RT 2191. The trial court informed
Duong that he could not do so without the consent of counsel because the “law doesn’t
permit someone to just come in and admit and be a party to what could be a suicide.”
14:RT 2192.

The same day, Duong requested that his counsel neither present mitigating
evidence nor cross-examine prosecution witnesses. 14:RT 2195-2197. The trial court

ruled that Duong could prevent counsel from presenting mitigating evidence, but that



defense counsel was obligated to examine governménf witnesses and make arguments so
as not to be “a co-participant in a suicide.” 14:RT 2196-2201.

The penalty phase opening statements and evidence commenced onJ anuary 31,
2003. 14:RT 2204, 2214. On Friday February 7, 2003, the jury began its penalty
deliberations. 17:RT 2944. On Monday February 10, 2003, the jury announced its death
verdict. 17:RT 2948. The trial court denied Duong’s motions for new trial and sentence
modification on March 7, 2003. 17:RT 2961, 2968-2975. The same day, the trial court
sentenced Duong to death. 17:RT 3000-3001.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Guilt Phase

The night before and morning of the shootings

On May 6, 1999, Minh Dieu Tram, Thi Hoa Tang, Robert Norman, and Lan Thi
Dang were fatally shot at the International Club in Pomona. 6:RT 882-888; 9:RT 1267-
1270. Mr. Tram, Mr. Tang, and Mr. Norman were dead when police arrived. 6:RT 882-
888, 891. Ms. Dang was transported to a hospital where she died shortly thereafter. 6:RT
890-891.

May 5, 1999 was the birthday of Wah Ching gang member Khiet Diep whose
friends gathered at the International Club that night to celebrate his birthday. 6:RT 898,
903-905, 936-939, 941-942, 970; 7:RT 980-981, 1102; 8:RT 1198, 1203; 9:RT 1430,
1449-1450. Diep had worked at International Club more than three years and was a
manager there. 9:RT 1429-1430. Patrons included gang members, most of whom were
affiliated with Asian gangs. 6:RT 899-900, 943; 7:RT 985, 997, 1084-1085; 9:RT 1380,
1383-1384, 1387-1388, 1395, 1405-1406, 1413; 10:RT 1519. Duong, who associated
with Lao Family, was there for Diep’s birthday party; he mingled with members of
several other gangs, including Wah Ching, Pine Street, Black Dragon, and Pomona Boys.
6:RT 899-900, 943; 7:RT 997, 1035-1036, 8 RT 1201-1202; 9:RT 1380, 1383-1384,

1413. Tram, an International Club regular, was present as well. 7:RT 1087. Tram and



Tang were Black Dragon gang members. 9:RT 1413.

Thi Van Le, a convicted felon, who was present when the shootings took place,
went to the International Club that night as an informant for the Garden Grove Police
Department and to attend Diep’s birthday party. 6:RT 898, 903-905, 936-939, 941-942,
970; 7:RT 980-981. Le was also an informant for the United States Drug Enforcement
Agency, and had been convicted of transporting large amounts of cocaine. 7:RT 994-996.
Le was trying to work off his drug case. 7:RT 980-981; 994-996. Le was paid anywhere
from $3,000 to $5,000 per trip for transporting between two and four kilos of cocaine.
6:RT 904; 7:RT 985-986. Le did not keep track of how much money he made in total,
but it might have been as much as $100,000. 7:RT 1007-1008.

That evening, Le saw Duong, whom he knew as “John,” by a table near the
restroom.” 6:RT 907. Duc Nguyen®, Le’s partner in crime, had introduced Le to Duong
on two previous occasions. 6:RT 900-907. Including Duong, Le knew more than 10 of
the approximately 150 people who were present, including Duc Nguyen, Anthony Tran,
Truong, and Bach Nguyen.* 7:RT 978.

At some point, Le went to use the restroom where he overheard an argument

between Anthony Tran and three or four Asian men whom Le had never seen before.

2 John Bui, Khiet Diep and others also knew Duong as John. 7:RT
1094, 1111-1112. 10 RT 1616

* The record refers to more than one person with the last name
Nguyen. For clarity, people with the last name Nguyen are referred to
herein by their first and last names.

* International Club co-owner John Bui estimated that 50-60 people
were present when the shootings took place. 7:RT 1087. Diep testified that
it was unusually crowded and that more than 100 people may have been
there. 9:RT 1431-1432.



6:RT 908-911; 7:RT 988-989. Duc Nguyen was aléo vin the restroom.” 6:RT 910.

One of the unfamiliar men left the restroom and came back with a man in a black
jacket, who became involved in the argument. Le did not see any weapons in the
restroom, however, Le believed that the black-jacketed man’s gestures and behavior
would have led almost anyone to believe that he was “packing” or carrying a gun. 6:RT
945, 958-961, 965; 7:RT 988-989. This man was later shot in the back of the head. 6:RT
961-964, 966; 7:RT 989-990.

Someone broke up the argument. 6:RT 965. After Le left the restroom, Duong
was sitting alone at a table near the restroom. 6:RT 912. Diep approached Duong and
Duong said “what do you want?® 6:RT 915; 7:RT 991. Diep’s response was something
to the effect of “we’ll see” or “let me have time.” 6:RT 915-916. Diep left Duong. 6:RT
917. Duong then stood up and went toward the bar. 6:RT 916-917.

About two minutes later, while Le was looking around International Club for a
suspect in a Garden Grove case, he heard a gunshot. 6:RT 911-912, 917-918. Le
immediately turned around and saw Duong, about 30 feet away, shooting at people in a
booth. 6:RT 918, 948-950. Duong had a silver handgun with a clip and loader. 6:RT
945. Le heard 9-13 more shots. 6:RT 919. Someone tried to grab Duong, yelled “stop
shooting” or “don’t shoot,” and fell on the floor. 6:RT 919-920, 951-955. Duong
continued shooting. 6:RT 920. An Asian man who was in the line of fire jumped over a
raised counter and to the front door as Duong shot at him. 6:RT 920-921, 926. After

that man ran away, Duong continued shooting at the people in the booth. 6:RT 929. Le

5 E1 Monte police reports indicate that Diep told officers he was
present during the argument in the bathroom. At trial, Diep testified that he
neither saw nor heard any arguments, but that he might have heard about an
argument. 9:RT 1432, 1441-1442.

%In a transcribed August 2001 interview with Detective Christine
Carns, Le indicated that Duong had asked Diep “Do you want me to do him
now?” 10:RT 1617-1918, 1621.



testified that he was not scared, because “If you ha\}e been in Vietnam in 1975 you
wouldn’t be scared of anything anymore.” 6:RT 956.

Joey Hoa Minh Truong, an active Lao Family member, attended Diep’s birthday
party at International Club at Duong’s invitation. 9:RT 1460, 1449-1450. Like Le,
Truong saw a man at International Club wearing a long trench coat or jacket that was not
normal for that time of night. 9:RT 1451-1452; 10:RT 1481-1482. The jacketed man
walked in and out two or three times very fast, looking around. 9:RT 1451-1452. He was
walking back and forth with confidence, “standing up.” 10:RT 1482. Based on his
experiences living on the streets, Truong was concerned about this man. 10:RT 1482.

Truong was playing pool when he heard shots. One of them was Duong and the
other could have been the man in the black trench coat or jacket. 10:RT 1476-1477. He
looked over at the bar and saw two men standing upright. He then heard two more shots.
9:RT 1455; 10:RT 1485-1486. Truong assumed one of them was Duong because there
had been a conflict before the shootings. 10:RT 1487-1488. The guy at the bar’s jacket
opened and there was something shiny, like a gun. 9:RT 1456. Truong did not see the
Jacketed person draw a gun, but assumed both of them were about to do so. 9:RT 1456.
Duong could have been the shooter, but Truong did not see him do it. 10:RT 1476. They
were struggling or exchanging words. 9:RT 1457-1458; 10:RT 1487, 1520. Truong
heard the gunshots before he saw the conflict. 9:RT 1458. Truong overheard that the
man with the black trench coat had a gun, then someone pointed to a table where the man
with the gun was sitting. 10:RT 1518-1523, 1526-1527. Truong had also heard that there
could be trouble. 10:RT 1521. Truong stayed away, because he did not want to be near a
gun-carrying person who might have felt threatened in a club full of gang members.’

10:RT 1519.

7 According to Truong, there were even gang members in the
courthouse during trial. 10:RT 1519.
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Truong immediately ran out of the bar, as d1d everyone else. 9:RT 1459; 10:RT
1476-1477. Truong had to have jumped over something to get out. 10:RT 1493. He was
using the other people as a shield and ran out the back door because he had seen the man
in the trench coat going in and out of the front door earlier. 10:RT 1493, 1495-1496.
Truong could not recall whether he called Duong after the shooting. 9:RT 1463. 10:RT
1507.

John Bui, half owner of the International Club, had arrived at the International
Club at 11:45pm on May 5, 1999. 7:RT 1052. Bui was not generally in charge of
security, but he had to assume security duties in his partner’s absence. 7:}{{1" 1083-1084.
The night of the shootings, Bui was there for fun. 7:RT 1083.

At around 12:15am, Bui was using the restroom and heard an argument between
two groups, a total of six or seven people, including Duong, in front of the food
preparation area.® 7:RT 1052-1054, 1089, 1107. Bui separated them and asked them to
be friendly and not to argue. 7:RT 1053, 1090-1091. They stopped arguing and Bui sat
with Tram and the other Asian male victim on a sofa. 7:RT 1055. Bui had not heard the
argument, but Tram told him the argument was over his girlfriend being shot and him
being beaten up at a club called Passions. 7:RT 1090; 10:RT 1612. The female victim
and the white male victim, among others, were also sitting with Bui and Tram. 7:RT
1056. Bui spoke with Tram about his conduct and his involvement in the argument in

front of the kitchen. 7:RT 1088-1089, 1108. Bui wanted to calm him down and to help

® Pine Street gang member Pedro Murillo testified that there was a
shoving match at the bar involving up to 15 people, some of whom were
Wah Ching gang members; however he did not recall if either Duong or
Tram were involved in the incident. 9:RT 1380, 1383-87, 1403-1404,
1419-1421. Murillo was playing pool after the shoving match; at some
point he heard gunshots. 9:RT 1395-1396. Murillo went under the pool
table and two men whom he did not recognize at the time, including Duong
(who had a gun in the back of his waistband) looked under the table and
then walked away. 9:RT 1397-1401.



resolve any problems. 7:RT 1092-1093. Bui askea some of the people involved in the
incident to leave the club. 9:RT 1406. Bui did not see anyone harm or threaten Duong.
7:RT 1062-1063.

Three or four minutes later, Bui heard a loud sound and reflexively stood and
turned around and saw the person behind him, who was Duong, holding a gun. 7:RT
1059, 1093-1094, 1108. He either grabbed the Duong from the front or extended his arms
in front of Duong and said “no, no, no.” 7:RT 1059-1060, 1069-1070, 1095-1098, 1109-
1110. Bui told police that he tried to grab the gun from the Duong. 10:RT 1592-1593.
Duong pushed Bui onto the floor. 7:RT 1059-1062, 1070, 1110. At trial, Bui said he
could see Duong shooting from the ground, but then turned his face down: 7:RT 1071-
1072, 1105.

When Bui spoke with police three or four hours after the shooting, he was not
truthful and omitted details, including that the shooter was John from Lao Family. 7:RT
1094, 1111-1112. There was also a language barrier as Bui’s native language is
Vietnamese. When Bui identified a photo of Duong, he refused to sign the associated
form because he was afraid that he himself would be shot. 7:RT 1079-1081. Bui asked
the detective to keep his name out of the investigation and told the detective he did not
want to testify. 7:RT 1081-1082. The judge ordered Bui in custody to guarantee that he
would testify but then released Bui on condition that he surrender his passport and wear a
monitoring device. 7:RT 1082.

Phone records show several calls between the phones of Anthony Tran and
Cindy Hoang, who had dated Duong for about 10 years, in the early morning hours of
May 6, 1999. 7:RT 1035. Hoang did not make or receive calls to Tran, but Duong
sometimes used her cell phone. 7:RT 1043, 1045-1047.

The day after the shootings, Anthony Tran and Duc Nguyen each called Le at



around noon.” 7:RT 1000. Le went to Duc Nguyeri’sﬂ house in Garden Grove where there
were many people, including Duong and Diep. 7:RT 1000. Le then took Diep to the
home of someone named Khuong, who had also been at the International Club the night
before. 7:RT 1002-1003. Le waited in the car while Diep went inside the house. When
Diep came out, he was carrying a videotape. 7:RT 1003-1004. They then stopped at Le’s
house where Diep watched the video on Le’s VCR. He then burned the video in Le’s
backyard barbeque. 6:RT 970-971; 7:RT 1006-1007, 1010. Although Le testified that he
watched Diep burn the video, he had told Detective Carns that Diep told him he had
burned the video at Khuong’s house. 10:RT 1603-1604. Diep said the video was from
International Club. 6:RT 971-973; 7:RT 1006-1007. Later that day, L.e spoke with his
DEA handler, agent Clark Wynch. 7:RT 980, 1006. Le later told detectives he could
have taken the video to action news to make money. 7:RT 1010.

Diep’s version of the events

The defense called Diep who testified to a different version of the events of May
5 and 6, 1999. On May 5, 1999, Diep arrived at 8:00 or 8:30pm and others came for his
birthday party. 9:RT 1430. Diep denied that he knew Tram and denied that he called
Tran to tell him that Tram was at International Club. 9:RT 1432; 10:RT 1547.

Diep testified both that he did not see or hear any arguments that night and also
that he heard there was a little argument that night but he did not pay attention. 9:RT
1432,1441-1442. Diep saw Duong at International Club that night, but did not see him
involved in any fights. 9:RT 1439. Diep had told Detective Carns that Tram and Duong
had an argument in the restroom over a girl from another bar named Passions, but denied
this in his testimony. 9:RT 1432-1434; 10:RT 1556-1558, 1599, 1616. Diep heard that

Tram had a gun. 10:RT 1561. Diep heard shooting, but never saw anyone with a gun.

? Anthony Tran testified that he did not recall whether he called Le
the morning after the shootings. 8:RT 1205.
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9:RT 1435, 1441. Diep told Detective Carns that tﬁe shooter was Fast John, Big John, or
Fat John from Lao Family, but denied this in his testimony. 10:RT 1549, 1616. After
hearing two to three shots, he ran out the door because he was afraid. 9:RT 1437. He
spent the night at the house of a friend, whose name he did not recall, and then went
home. 9:RT 1437-1438; 10:RT 1531-1532. He stayed with his mother all day because
there was a ceremony for his father’s death. 10:RT 1534. Diep did not go back to
International Club to get a tape and was not told that he was under investigation for
destroying a video tape. 9:RT 1438, 1441, 1444-1446. He later heard that Tram had been
shot. 10:RT 1560.

Diep and Anthony Tran had worked together at Crystal Park Casino three or four
years earlier. 9:RT 1442-1443. Tran did not keep paging Diep after the shootings. 9:RT
1443-1444. Diep did not recall whether he spoke with Tran in the morning after the
shooting. 10:RT 1535. Diep could not explain calls to and from Tran from his mother’s
and brother’s cell phones. 10:RT 1536-1541, 1544. Diep does not know Duc Nguyen
and doubts that his brother knows him despite calls from Duc Nguyen to Diep’s brother.
10:RT 1542-1544. Diep could not remember Le, did not remember a call with him on
May 6, 1999, and did not see Le that day. 10:RT 1536, 1544.

Diep denied telling police that Duong was a L.ao Family member. 10:RT 1546.

Duong’s arrest

On July 16, 2001, law enforcement, acting on warrants, arrested Duong at a
Costa Mesa 24 Hour Fitness basketball court. 1:RT 146-148; 8:RT 1215-1217. Six hours
later, law enforcement, without a warrant, seized a Ford Expedition registered to Timothy
Mukasa outside the building where Duong was arrested. 1:RT 159-173, 3 RT 359-369,
8:RT 1216.

Duong’s physical prowess and affinity for weapons

The prosecution presented evidence and elicited from defense witnesses evidence

that Duong was an experienced fighter and shooter. Aside from the International Club,
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Truong had seen Duong with a gun at his work as aAra‘mge master at the Huntington Beach
Firing Line shooting range. 10:RT 1510. Duong tried to teach Truong how to shoot a
gun, which Truong believes was a 9mm. 10:RT 1510-1511. Duong taught Truong safety
first. 10:RT 1511. Truong acknowledged that Duong was a careful man, but he could not
say that Duong would only shoot at what he wanted to hit. 10:RT 1511.

According to his longtime girlfriend, Cindy Hoang, Duong had a second degree
black belt in Tae Kwon Do and had worked at a shooting range and had familiarity with
guns. 7:RT 1038-1041. Duong taught Hoang how to hold a gun and point it at a target.
7:RT 1039-1041. Police retrieved a 1911 semi-automatic .45 caliber pistol which was
loaded with .45 caliber rounds from Hoang’s closet that she did not know was there.
7:RT 1032-1034; 8:RT 1261-1262."°

When Duong was arrested, law enforcement retrieved a Colt .45 handgun with a
bullet in the chamber from their search of the center console of the Ford Expedition. 8:RT
1228-1229. This weapon was not used in the International Club shootings. 9:RT 1375.

Le told Detective Carns that Duong had a black belt in Karate. 10:RT 1622 |

Evidence of consciousness of guilt

The prosecution presented and elicited from defense witnesses evidence of
Duong’s consciousness of guilt and criminal leanings. This evidence included that
shortly after the shootings, maybe the next day, Duong invited Truong to take a vacation
with him to Texas. 10:RT 1505-1507. They flew together to Austin, Texas. 10:RT 1507.
Duong told Truong he had a job, but took a week long vacation while Truong was
visiting. 10:RT 1509.

Duong used aliases, including Thomas Calvin Lee, and John. 6:RT 930; 7.RT
1026-1027, 1042, 1094, 1111-1112; 10:RT 1549, 1616.

In addition, Duong used the California identification card and driver’s license of

1 This weapon was not used at International Club. 9:RT 1374.
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Hoang’s brother, Long Hoang, to purchase a gun and for purposes of identification. 7:RT
1027-1031.

Forensic evidence

Criminalist Mike Oto retrieved a .40 caliber Taurus PT940 Smith and Wesson
weapon from victim Tram’s waistband. 8:RT 1189-1190; Peo. Exh. 6B-6C. The gun
contained 10 live rounds of .40 Smith and Wesson ammunition in the magazine. 8:RT
1192. The safety was off. 8:RT 1193. There was no bullet in the barrel, so the slide
would had to have been pulled back once to shoot. 8:RT 1192, 1194-1195. Oto testified
that it might take half a second to pull the slide back. 8:RT 1195. After the first shot, the
next shots could be fired off “bang, bang, bang.” 8:RT 1195. In most semi-automatic
weapons, when the slide comes back the trigger comes back a bit also, making it easier to
shoot. &:RT 1194.

Firearms examiner Patricia Fant examined casings and bullets retrieved from the
scene and the bullets retrieved from the victims. 7:RT 1118-1127. All of them were
RP45 .45 caliber. 7:RT 1118. Based on her examination of the bullets and casings, Fant
believed that all of them were fired from a single .45 caliber semi-automatic weapon with
the general rifling characteristics of a Colt Springfield Armory model 1911. 7:RT 1119-
1120, 1123, 1136. Other brands, including Para-Ordnance, have similar rifling
characteristics. 7:RT 1143-1144. Fant could not determine whether the weapon was
semi- automatic or fully automatic, but she did believe that at least 10 shots were fired
from one weapon. 7:RT 1136. A Colt Springfield 1911 with a single magazine can hold
six or seven rounds in the magazine and one in the chamber. 7:RT 1144-1145. To shoot
10 rounds, one would have to eject the magazine and replace it or use an after-market
magazine. 7:RT 1144-1145, 1147. After-market magazines are very common. 7:RT
1147. Fant was unsure whether a Para-Ordnance magazine could hold 10 rounds. 7:RT
1146. Fant could not determine whether the weapon had a hair trigger or whether it was

fully automatic without examining the actual gun. 7:RT 1145-1148. However, the one
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time Fant had a round discharge accidentally, the wéépon had a regular trigger. 7:RT
1149. Fant had heard of at most two instances of bullets discharging accidentally. 7:RT
1149-1150.

Los Angeles Sheriff’s Department senior criminalist Manuel Munoz reviewed
Fant’s findings. 11:RT 1778. Manufacturers never make guns fully automatic. 11:RT
1778. The Colt Springfield model 1911 has several safety mechanisms including a
manual thumb safety on the left side, an internal safety called a quarter cock, a trigger
disconnect, and a grip safety. 11:RT 1778-1779, 1781-1782. To fire, there must be a
round in the chamber, the manual safety must be removed, the hammer must be cocked,
the gun must be properly gripped, and the trigger must be pulled. 11:RT 1782-1784,
1790. If the firearm is working properly, it will fire once and the shooter {nust release
the trigger, keep the external safety depressed, and pull it again to fire another round.
11:RT 1784, 1790, 1792-1794. The Springfield 1911 model magazine holds eight rounds
and a ninth in the chamber. 11:RT 1786. Springfield sells an after-market magazine that
fits the Colt .45 that holds eleven rounds in addition to a round in the chamber. 11:RT
1786-1787. The manufacturer makes a 13 round magazine for Para-Ordnance. 11:RT
1787.

With a fully automatic weapon, one only has to depress the trigger once to empty
the magazine. 11:RT 1795. The trigger on the Colt .45 can be modified to require less or
more pounds of pressure to depress the trigger. 11:RT 1795-1796. The magazine, the
trigger safety, and other aspects of the gun can also be modified. 11:RT 1796. There’s
no way to determine whether any of these modifications were made without examining
the actual weapon. 11:RT 1799.

Fant and Oto used trajectory rods in the booth where the victims were seated to
get a sense of the suspect’s position and the scene. 7:RT 1128-1130. They tried to line
up entry and exit holes to try to determine the angles of some of the shots. 7:RT 1130.

The trajectories were from the seat side of the booth to the outside of the booth and also
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from high to low. 7:RT 1132. This is consistent with the shooter standing in front of and
firing into the booth. 7:RT 1132. If people were sitting in the booth, then the shooter
would have been aiming for the upper chest area or head, not for the limbs. 7:RT 1133-
1134. When bullets go through something, their trajectories can change. 7:RT 1135.
Fant did not try to determine whether the bullets might have struck anything before
entering the booth. 7:RT 1135, 1142.

Homicide detective Richard Tomlin oversaw the crime scene investigation and
helped look for firearms evidence. 8:RT 1157-1158. Because International Club is big, it
would have been difficult for Tomlin to find every piece of ballistic evidence. 8:RT
1163. Tomlin did not have any information that the shooter shot at someone who was
running toward the pool tables and did only a cursory walk through of that area. 8:RT
1162-1163. The booths were higher than the pool tables. 8:RT 1164. The closer the shot
is, the larger the hole. 8:RT 1170. A .45 is a large caliber weapon. 8:RT 1170. Tomlin
visually inspected the walls for bullet holes, but he and his partner did not specifically
walk International Club looking for bullet holes. 8:RT 1170-1172. There were bullet
strikes and shell casings against the wall of the ping pong room. 8:RT 1175.

Deputy medical examiner Lisa Scheinin reviewed the reports and notes from Dr.
Jeffrey Gutstadt’s autopsy of victim Tram. 9:RT 1267-1268. Tram died from multiple
gunshot wounds. 9:RT 1271-1273, 1331-1333. Scheinin could not determine Tram’s
position when he was shot, but opined that the shooter was either taller or at a higher level
than Tram when he shot him. 9:RT 1277. The distance between the shooter and Tram
was indeterminate. 9:RT 1318.

Scheinin supervised Dr. Raffi Djabourian’s autopsy of Thi Hoa Tang. 9:RT
1268. Tang was fatally shot. 9:RT 1287, 1295. One of his bullet wounds exited his inner
left arm and then entered the chin area, consistent with his having put his arm up to
protect himself. 9:RT 1289-1291. Tang’s wounds were consistent with a scenario that,

after his being shot in the arm and face, he fell to the right and someone stood over him
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and fired into the area above his ear. 9:RT 1294. The distance between the shooter and
Tang was indeterminate. 9:RT 1318.

Scheinin supervised John M. Andrews’s autopsy of Robert Norman. 9:RT 12609.
Norman died from a single gunshot wound which entered through his back and exited
through his mouth, consistent with his having gotten out of the booth where he had been
sitting to try to escape, then being shot in the back while he was crawling away. 9:RT
1295-1299. She could tell that the shooter was behind Norman, but not how far away
they were from each other. 9:RT 1314-1318. If Norman’s body was found as depicted
in People’s Exhibit 1C, near the end of the booth, someone may have thrown or placed
his body in that position after he was shot. 9:RT 1348. Scheinin did not bﬁelieve Norman
was climbing over the booth when he was shot and did not believe that the bullet entered
another victim before it entered Norman. 9:RT 1348, 1352.

Scheinin reviewed the report of Ogbonna Chinwah’s autopsy of Lan
Thi Dang, but did not review the autopsy photos. 9:RT 1269-1270. Dang died from a
single gunshot wound that went through her left arm and reentered on the left side of her
chest near her armpit. 9:RT 1300-1303. The wound could have gone through someone
else before it entered Dang. 9:RT 1327-1328. The distance between the shooter and
Dang, and the shooter’s position relative to her were indeterminate. 9:RT 1318, 1326-
1327.

Penalty Phase

Other Crimes Evidence

The prosecution presented evidence that Duong participated in one robbery
murder, two murders, each during the course of an attempted robbery, and a robbery.

Thien Thanh Market

On May 3, 1997, Chau Quach was shot and killed in a robbery of the Thien
Thanh Market which his family owned. 14:RT 2250, 2258-2259, 2266, 2277-2278. His
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son in law, Thien Tang,'' was shot in the leg. 14:RT 2250. Thien Tang later identified
Duong as the shooter in a photo lineup. 14:RT 2261-2264, 2371.

Duong told his girlfriend, Christine Chen, he had hurt or killed someone when
he robbed an Asian grocery store in San Jose. 15:RT 2647-2649, 2710. Duong took
$300,000 or $350,000 at that robbery. 15:RT 2648, 2710.

Wintec

On August 28, 1998, Hsu Pin Tsai, an employee of a computer memory business
called Wintec was killed during an attempted robbery at his workplace. 15:RT 2576-
2577. Security guard Ted Garcia received a head wound during the same incident.
14:RT 2325.

Fremont police officer later stopped a white van and detained the driver, Johnny
Tangha, and passengers Cuong Vo, Eugene Lee, and Ted Nguyen, all Asian males.
14:RT 2332-2345. Police retrieved from the van diagrams of Wintec, duct tape, a live
round of 9mm ammunition, and a police scanner frequency guide. 14:RT 2340-2345,
2352-2353. Kourosh Nikoui, a Fremont police forensic specialist who conducted
fingerprint analysis of the evidence opined that Duong’s fingerprints were on two of the
pages of the Wintec diagram. 14:RT 2402-2405. Michael Liu was later arrested. 14:RT
2365-2366. Cellular phone records reveal calls between Ted Nguyen’s cell phone and the
cell phone of Duong’s mother, Lan Bang. Although Bang lived in Garden Grove, about
500 miles from Fremont, it was determined that her cell phone was within six miles of
Wintec and within six miles of another suspect, Michael Liu on the date of the attempted
robbery. 14:RT 2417-2419, 2421-2426. Bang had given the cell phone to Duong who
told her it was missing and asked her to cancel the account. 15:RT 2512-2515. Duong

told Chen he was involved in an incident at a computer chip factory in Fremont during

" Thien Tang is referred to herein by his full name to distinguish him
from victim The Hao Tang.
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which someone was killed. 15:RT 2649, 2692.

Had the robbery at Wintec succeeded, perpetrators could have easily taken more
than one million dollars in property. 14:RT 2290.

Traditional Jewelers

On January 16, 2001, security guard Rafael Gomez'? received multiple gunshot
wounds during an attempted robbery of his workplace, Traditional Jewelers. 15:RT 2459,
2484-2487. Nothing was taken. 15:RT 2594.

At some point before the robbery, Duong took Chen to Traditional Jewelers at
Fashion Island to see what she thought of it as a place to do a job. 15:RT 2624. At some
point afterwards, Chen was at Garza’s house when Timmy Mukasa, Garza, Chan, and
Duong discussed plans to rob Traditional Jewelers. 15:RT 2625. They were looking for
watches. Duong said it was always his job to take down the security guard and he
supplied the guns. 15:RT 2626.

Duong kept the guns which included an AK-47, an M-16, and a handgun, in a
duffle bag in a closet at their condo. 15:RT 2627. Duong said his favorite gun was the
AK-47. 15:RT 2627. Duong said he wore dark clothing, ski masks, beanies, and gloves
for robberies. 15:RT 2628. The day of the Traditional robbery , Timmy Mukasa, Soewin
Chan, Philip Garza, & Duong met at Duong’s condo beforehand. 15:RT 2628. They got
the guns ready. 15:RT 2629. They put duct tape on back of the BMW’s license plate and
slapped another one on when it was parked at Traditional so they couldn’t be traced.
15:RT 2629-2630. Chen believed one of them had an AK-47. 15:RT 2631. They left in
Duong’s black BMW and stopped at McDonald’s before returning home. 15:RT 2631.
Duong told Chen he had shot the place up because he was pissed that they did not get
anything. 15:R7T 2632-2633.

12 Mr. Gomez testified at the penalty phase of Duong’s trial. 15:RT
2479.
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Jade Galore

Security guard Joseph Cambosa was shot and killed on March 13, 2001 during a
robbery of Jade Galore, a jewelry store where he worked. 15:RT 2597. 53 Rolex watches
worth about $500,000 were taken. 15:RT 2600.

It was Chen’s idea to rob Jade Galore. 15:RT 2633. Chen testified in great
detail about Duong’s involvement in the planning and committing of the robbery and
shooting the security guard. 15:RT 2633-2647, 2687-2690.

Christine Chen

The prosecution called Chen who was told by both the U.S. Attorney and by
Monaghan that she was required to testify, but her testimony would not be used against
her.® 15:RT 2609, 2665-2667. As indicated above, Chen testified about the Thien
Tanh, Wintec, Traditional, and Jade Galore incidents. In October 2000, Chen met
Duong, whom she knew as Tommy. 15:RT 2609. Chen and Duong began hanging out
about a month after they met when he came back to visit San Jose. 15:RT 2609-2611.
They went to San Francisco with some of Duong’s friends and then Duong asked her to
move to Orange County with him. 15:RT 2613-2614. Chen stayed with Duong until his
arrest in July 2001. 15:RT 2614. Chen still loved Duong. 15:RT 2663.

Duong loved kids and kids loved him. 15:RT 2673-2674. When Chen’s
girlfriend Kim would come over with her four year old son, Duong took the time to play
with him, watch cartoons, take him to eat, and play with action figures. 15:RT 2674.
Duong was good with his own sisters. 15:RT 2674. Chen wished Duong could have
gotten away from his friends so the two of them could lead a normal life. 15:RT 2674.

Chen did not like Duong’s friends because they were always borrowing money

and asking him to do things. 15:RT 2675. They couldn’t hold their own. 15:RT 2675.

" Although Duong had absented himself from other penalty phase
proceedings, he chose to be present during Chen’s testimony. 15:RT 2566.
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Chen wanted him to get away from his friends beca“uske if you play with dirt you get dirty.
15:RT 2675. They weren’t good for him. 15:RT 2675. She wanted him to lead his own
life away from them. 15:RT 2675. She wanted to marry him. 15:RT 2675.

Duong’s parents were divorced. 15:RT 2676. Chen met his step-dad but not his
real father. 15:RT 2676. Chen had gone out to eat with Duong’s sisters. 15:RT 2676-
2677. Duong shared robbery proceeds with his mother and she knew where they came
from. 15:RT 2698.

After Chen had surgery, Duong took care of her and got anything she needed.
15:RT 2677, 2706-2707. He took care of and supported her the whole time they were
together. 15:RT 2677. She worked for fun. 15:RT 2677, 2707. He paid all her living
expenses. 15:RT 2677. She cared for Duong for who he was, not for the money. 15:RT
2677.

Duong hung out with the wrong people when he was young, his family was poor,
and they did not live in the greatest part of Orange County. 15:RT 2679.

Duong was born in Vietnam; he told Chen his family had to flee lfecause the
communists came. 15:RT 2696. They lost a lot of stuff. 15:RT 2696. He came to the
U.S. with just his mother. 15:RT 2696. He has two younger sisters. 15:RT 2696.

Duong had a gambling problem; he would go on binges and would sell things to
keep gambling when he lost large sums of money. 15:RT 2692-2694. Duong used ecstasy
for the first couple of months he and Chen were together. 15:RT 2694.

After Jade Galore, when Chen told Duong a security guard died, he walked out
of the room and was really quiet for a month afterward. 15:RT 2681. He does not intend
to hurt people. 15:RT 2681. He was devastated when he found out. 15:RT 2681. He
never planned to kill anyone, but it happened. 15:RT 2681.

Duong wanted to change Chen’s life. 15:RT 2683. She was not doing well; she
was working in a café, hanging out with bad people, smoking, drinking, and doing drugs.

15:RT 2683. He wanted to share his experience with Chen and other people he knew
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who were on wrong path. 15:RT 2683. He wanted £0 éhow her a better way and told her
not to waste her life, because she was still young but for him it was too late because he
was already wanted by police. 15:RT 2683. Chen might have been his project. 15:RT
2683. She stopped smoking and using drugs and went back to school. 15:RT 2683. She
became a better person, and was grateful. 15:RT 2683. He always wrote letters from
county jail to keep Chen’s mind focused on going to school and not smoking, doing
drugs, or hanging around with those people. 15:RT 2683.

Duong shared an apartment in Costa Mesa with Eddie Mukasa. 15:RT 2614-
2615. Duong did not have a job. 15:RT 2615. He supported himself doing armed
robberies and gambling. 15:RT 2615-2616. Duong told her he did what the people in the
movie Heat did, 1.e., armed robberies. 15:RT 2616. Chen went with Duong to casino
clubs and to Las Vegas. 15:RT 2616. She once saw him lose $70,000 in one week.
15:RT 2616.

When they first met, Duong drove a BMW. 15:RT 2617. At some point, Duong
got a Honda by giving Timmy Mukasa the cash to buy it.  15:RT 2617-2618. The
Honda was used in the Jade Galore robbery. 15:RT 2618. About a month later, Timmy
Mukasa traded in the Honda for the Ford Expedition that Duong had when he was
arrested. 15:RT 2619. Duong had a .45 semi-automatic pistol in the Ford Expedition.
15:RT 2619. Duong introduced himself as Tommy Chen and sometimes went by John or
Johnny Long. 15:RT 2620. Chen once heard him referred to as Anh, but he denied that
was his name. 15:RT 2620. Duong told Chen he was wanted by police. 15:RT 2620. He
told Chen she could not get mail at their apartment because he did not want anyone to be
able to find him. 15:RT 2621. Duong got mail at many place’s including Soewin Chan’s.
15:RT 1621. Duong kept a motorcycle at Chan’s. 15:RT 2621.

A couple of weeks after Jade Galore, Chen went with Duong, Chan, and Philip
Garza to buy two motorcycles. 15:RT 2623. They paid cash and Chen did not think the

motorcycles were registered to Duong. 15:RT 2623.
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Chen testified further about Duong’s financial practices and his efforts to evade
and hide evidence from law enforcement. 15:RT 2650-2651-2654. She also discussed
the circumstances of his arrest. 15:RT 2655-2656.

Duong told Chen that if police started following his car after a robbery he would
commit suicide because the alternative was to spend his life in prison. 15:RT 2651-2652.

Yictim Impact Evidence

In addition to evidence of prior misconduct, the state presented in its case in
aggravation victim impact evidence.

Jane Norman, the mother of victim Robert Norman testified about the emotional
impact of his death on the Norman family and Norman’s educational and employment
endeavors. 16:RT 2772-2774.

Mach Dang, the father of victim Lan Thi Dang, testified to the physical and
emotional toll that Dang’s death had on he and his wife and about Dang’s life aspirations.
16:RT 2776-2777.

Loan Dang, sister of L.an Thi Dang, who was present at the International Club
when her sister was murdered, testified about the psychological impact of being present
during her sister’s homicide and of the loss of her sister. 16:RT 2778-2780.

I THE TRIAL COURT’S PREJUDICIAL DENIAL OF
DUONG’S MOTION FOR A CHANGE OF VENUE
VIOLATED HIS RIGHTS UNDER THE FEDERAL
CONSTITUTION AND STATE LAW

The trial court’s erroneous denial of Duong’s motion for a change of venue
violated his rights to due process, equal protection, a fair trial and impartial jury, and a

reliable penalty determination. U.S. Const., Amends. V, VI, VIII, XIV; Cal. Const., art. I,
§§ 7, 15, 16. |

A. Proceedings below

Prior to trial Duong moved pursuant to Penal Code section 1033 and the federal

constitution for (1) a change of venue; (2) a protective order against publicity, i.e., a gag
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order; and (3) an order excluding cameras and recording devices from the courtroom.'
1:CT 269-278; 1:RT 132, 144; 5:RT 723. The case was covered in local media as well as
the nationally broadcast show, America’s Most Wanted. 1:CT 269-278; 2:CT 316-325;
1:RT 130-134, 144; 5:RT 723. The trial court denied the motion, but allowed that it
would reconsider its motion should additional information come to light. 5:RT 723.
During jury selection, the trial court privately questioned three prospective alternates who
indicated they had been exposed to media in this case. 5:RT 816-821. The trial court
dismissed one of them for cause after she acknowledged reading a recent article about the
case. 5:RT 817-818, 821.

B.  State Law And The Federal Constitution Required a Change of Venue

Penal Code section 1033 provides in pertinent part that “[I]n a criminal action
pending in the superior court, the court shall order a change of venue . . . to another
county when it appears that there is a reasonable likelihood that a fair and impartial trial
cannot be had in the county.” Where the issue is raised before trial, doubts should be
resolved in favor of a venue change. Fain v. Superior Court, 2 Cal.3d 46, 54 (1970);
Martinez v. Superior Court, 29 Cal.3d 574, 578 (1981); see also United States v. Cores,
356 U.S. 405, 407 (1958).

On appeal, the reviewing court makes an “independent determination of whether
a fair trial was obtainable” and reverses “when the record discloses a reasonable
likelihood the defendant did not have a fair trial.” People v. Coffinan, 34 Cal .4th 1, 44
(2004); see also People v. Williams, 48 Cal.3d 1112, 1125 (1989) (“the reviewing court
must independently examine the record and determine de novo whether a fair trial is or
was obtainable.”). As this Court has repeatedly explained, in this context, a “reasonable

likelihood” means “something less than ‘more probable than not,” and something more

1 Prior to Duong’s arraignment, Judge Kahn prohibited
reporters from photographing him. 10:CT 2660-2664.
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than merely possible.” See, e.g., People v. Coﬁ"man,‘”34 Cal.4th at 44-45, citing People v.
Bonin, 46 Cal.3d 659, 672-673 (1988); People v. Frazier, 5 Cal.3d 287, 294 (1971).

In conducting its de novo review, the reviewing court considers the following
five factors: (1) the nature and gravity of the case; (2) the nature and extent of the media
coverage; (3) the size of the community; (4) the status of the defendant in the community;

and (5) the prominence of the victim. People v. Coffman, 34 Cal.4th at 45.

Applying these factors to the instant case, the record discloses a
reasonable likelihood that Duong could not receive a fair trial in Los Angeles County.
1. The Nature and Gravity of the Offense Required a Change of
Venue

“The nature and gravity of the offense, capital murder, is a primary
consideration” in determining whether a change of venue was necessary to a fair trial.
Martinez v. Superior Court, 29 Cal.3d at 582. The term “nature” refers to the “peculiar
facts or aspects of a crime which make it sensational, or otherwise bring it to the
consciousness of the community.” Id. “[T]he term ‘gravity’ of a crime refers to its
seriousness in the law and to the possible Conéequences to an accused in the event of a
guilty verdict.” Id. “Because it carries such grave consequences, a death penalty case
inherently attracts press coverage; in such a case the factor of gravity must weigh heavily
in a determination regarding the change of venue.” Id. at 583 (emphasis in original).

This case involved the shooting, in a crowded, public nightclub, of four young
victims, including a man celebrating his twenty second birthday, a young woman who
died in her boyfriend’s arms as her younger sister watched, and a disk jockey who was at
the club seeking employment. 2:CT 316, 319-320; 7:RT 1057. Law enforcement did
not identify a suspect for seven months after the crimes and more than two years passed
between the killings and Duong’s arrest. 2:CT 317-318. Moreover, Duong was an alleged
gang member. 2:CT 318.

These crimes, which involved multiple shootings in a public place by an alleged
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gang member, were unquestionably sensational an(i of a type that would instill fear in the
community from which Duong’s jury was drawn.

Thus, the sensational, grave facts of this case required a change of venue.

2. The Nature And Extent of the Publicity Called For A Change Of
Venue

In Sheppard v. Maxwell, 384 U.S. 333, 363 (1966), the United States Supreme
Court stated that “where there is a reasonable likelihood that prejudicial news prior to trial
will prevent a fair trial, the judge should continue the case until the threat abates, or
transfer it to another county not so permeated with publicity.” This is true regardless of
the media’s goals in reporting on the crimes. Indeed, this Court has long recognized that
“‘[a] reasonable likelihood of unfairness may exist even though the news coverage was

293>

neither inflammatory nor productive of overt hostility.”” People v. Jennings, 53 Cal.3d
334, 362 (2005), citing, Martinez v. Superior Court, 29 Cal.3d at 580. This is because
“[w]hen a spectacular crime has aroused community attention . . . the possibility of an
unfair trial may originate in widespread publicity describing facts, statements and
circumstances which tend to create a belief in his guilt.” Corona v. Superior Court, 24
Cal.App.3d 872, 877 (1972). Clearly, “[t]he goal of a fair trial in the locality of the crime
is practically unattainable when the jury panel has been bathed in streams of
circumstantial incrimination flowing from the news media.” Id. at 878.

Prior to trial, the media coverage included inflammatory information, disputed
facts, inaccuracies, and items that were inadmissible or were sure to be excluded at
Duong’s trial. The wide dissemination of such information violated Duong’s right to
have “his guilt or innocence determined solely on the basis of the evidence introduced at
trial, and not on grounds of official suspicion, indictment, continued custody, or other
circumstances not adduced as proof at trial.” Taylor v. Kentucky, 436 U.S. 478, 485
(1978).

The media coverage prejudiced Duong in a number of ways.
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First, it was well-publicized that law enforcement did not identify a suspect in the
case until seven months after the shooting and that a two year national manhunt,
publicized on America’s Most Wanted, preceded Duong’s capture. 2:CT 316-325. Such
information undoubtedly showed that the police considered Duong especially dangerous.
See, e.g., People v. Edwards, 54 Cal.3d 787, 832 (1991); Wainwright v. New Orleans,
392 U.S. 598, 614 (1968) (Douglas, J., dissenting) (“when the manhunt is on, passions
often carry the day.”). In addition, a suspect at large for a long period of time can create a
sense of fear in a community. See, e.g., People v. Prince, 40 Cal. 4™ 1179, 1211 (1997).

Second, although no gang allegations were filed in this case and Duong was in
fact not affiliated with a solely Vietnamese gang, the media referred to a g}ang moniker
and reported that Duong was a reputed member of a Vietnamese gang and the shooting
appeared to be gang-related”. 2:CT 317-319, 324. Articles also noted that International
Club was an Asian gang hangout that was once shut down after two killings in the
parking lot. 2:CT 316, 319. Publicity about gang membership, particularly when such
membership is irrelevant to the charged offenses, may necessitate a change of venue, even
in the absence of opinion polls or other evidence that jurors were exposed to publicity.
Clifton v. Superior Court, 7 Cal. App. 3d 245, 249-252 (1970); People v. Malone, 41
Cal.3d 1, 30 (1988). This is because, as this court has long acknowledged, evidence of
gang affiliation is “highly inflammatory.” People v. Gurule, 28 Cal.4th 557, 653 (2002);
People v. Williams, 16 Cal.4th 153, 193 (1997); People v. Cox, 53 Cal. 3d 618, 660
(1991). People v. Coddington, 23 Cal.4th 529, 588 (2000), overruled on other grounds,
Price v. Superior Court, 25 Cal.4th 1046, 1069, n. 13 (2001).

Third, after a pretrial hearing at which media were present, it was reported in

print and on the internet that a federal court sealed the names of two prosecution

" Duong was alleged to be a member of Lao Family, an Asian street
gang. 7:RT 997, 1035-1036; 8:RT1202 . See Claim VI, below, which is
incorporated by reference herein.
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witnesses from the defense and the public. 3:CT 32‘1. Although the prosecutor presented
not a shred of evidence during trial that Duong had threatened witnesses in this case,
media printed the prosecutor’s explosive representations that the federal judge issued this
ruling because it feared for the witnesses’ safety. 3:CT 321; See, e.g., United States. v.
Richardson, 651 F.2d 1251, 1252, 1254-1255 (8" Cir. 1981) (media coverage of threats to
witness are prejudicial). In this way, the prosecutor disseminated through the media
baseless, but highly prejudicial innuendo about Duong’s conduct that he could not have
introduced at trial in the absence of adequate substantiation. People v. Warren, 45 Cal.3d
471, 481 (1988). In doing so, the prosecutor made the absence of such allegations or
evidence at trial meaningless. Sheppard v. Maxwell, 384 U.S. at 360.

Fourth, the media reported the opinion of an anonymous friend of victim Dang
that “the guy was just trying to kill everyone in the booth because they were witnesses.”
3:CT 316. The intent of the shooter in this case was the central issue in dispute and the
prosecutor ultimately acknowledged to the jury that he could not prove motive. 12:RT
1929. In reporting such “gossip” the news media independently exacerbated the prejudice
by, in the absence of real evidence, undercutting Duong’s defense. Sheppard v. Maxwell,
384 U.S. at 360, n. 13.

Fifth, Duong was prejudiced by sensational stories that he was facing murder and
robbery allegations in other jurisdictions, including charges that he: (1) shot a grocery
store owner and his father-in-law, killing the older man; (2) masterminded the botched
robbery of a high tech firm that resulted in a homicide; (3) robbed and shot up a jewelry
store; (4) faced unspecified charges in federal court; and (5) committed other unspecified
crimes 2:CT 318-319, 321-322, 324-325. This is another example of the media exposing
to prospective jurors to damning evidence that would not be admitted during the guilt
phase of Duong’s trial. Sheppard v. Maxwell, 384 U.S. at 360; See also, Marshall v.
United States, 360 U.S. 310, 311-313 (1959) (impact of two news accounts, including one

which reported that defendant had two prior felony convictions, which were inadmissible

27



at trial, required reversal even though jurors stated théy were not prejudiced by the
information). Such evidence is “inherently prejudicial,” People v. Alcala, 36 Cal.3d 604,

631 (1984), because it “creates ‘the human tendency to draw a conclusion which is

299

impermissible in the law: because he did it before, he must have done it again.”” Bean v.

Calderon, 163 F.3d 1073, 1085 (9™ Cir 1998), quoting United States v. Bagley, 772 F.2d
482, 488 (9™ Cir. 1985).

Sixth, it was reported that although five of Duong’s codefendants in the high tech
firm robbery were convicted of murder, one accomplice had left the country. 2:CT 319.
This report was particularly inflammatory when considered in combination with the
prosecutor’s comments that a federal judge feared for the safety of prosecution witnesses,
with accusations that Duong was a Vietnamese gang member and that the killings were
gang-related, with allegations that Duong was implicated in other homicides, and with the
legnth of time between the crimes and Duong’s arrest. Prospective jurors could easily
have inferred that the cohort who remained at large posed a threat to jurors and witnesses
even though Duong was in custody.

Seventh, coverage of Duong’s case encompassed highly inflammatory
information about the victims, including: (1) that as she lay dying, Ms. Dang’s boyfriend
cradled her in his arms as her sister watched; (2) that Ms. Dang’s grieving boyfriend
subsequently secluded himself in his bedroom; (3) that Ms. Dang was a good person who
was not involved with gangs; and (4) that the day he was killed, victim The Hao Tang
was celebrating his twenty second birthday. 2:CT 316, 319-320. Thus, before the jurors
who decided Duong’s guilt heard a speck of admissible evidence, they has access to
information that, while heartrending, was wholly irrelevant to the determination of guilt.
This Court has held that “the prosecutor’s introduction of victim-impact testimony 1s
impermissible at the guilt phase of a capital trial.” People v. Salcido, 44 Cal.4™ 93, 151
(2008). Underlying this rule is the reality that “[e]vidence about the victim and survivors

... can of course be so inflammatory as to risk a verdict impermissibly based on passion,
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not deliberation.” Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S. 808, 836 (1991) (Souter, J., concurring).
Thus, this is precisely the kind of information that, when disseminated to prospective
jurors, eviscerates a defendant’s right to have his guilt or innocence determined solely on
the basis of the evidence. Taylor v. Kentucky, 436 U.S. at 485.

Eighth, the newspapers reported that Duong was in a coma and on life support
after attempting to kill himself. 2:CT 318. Because Duong had no opportunity to place
this information in context, prospective jurors could have easily inferred that his suicide
attempt evinced a guilty conscience. See, e.g., People v. Panah, 34 Cal.4" 395, 482
(2005); Johnson v. Sublett, 63 F.3d 926, 928, 930-931 (9™ Cir. 1995); United States v.
Cody, 498 F.3d 582, 591-592 (6" Cir. 2007); Tug Raven v. Trexler, 419 F.2d 536, 543 (4"
Cir. 1969); United States. v. Johnson, 354 F.Supp.2d 939, 958 (C.D. Iowa 2005).

Ninth, newspapers disseminated a one-sided version of additional key disputed
facts, including (1) that International Club owner John Bui tried to separate Duong and
victim Minh Tram moments before the killings; (2) that Bui tried to wrestle the gun away
from the shooter, but was pushed to the ground; and (3) that the shooting may have
stemmed from an argument that occurred earlier in the evening at the Passion Club in
Alhambra. 2:CT 320, 322. The way in which the shooting unfolded was central to this
case. But, instead of receiving a complete, contextualized picture of the homicides,
prospective jurors who had heard no evidence in the case only had access to a single,
dubious version of the story. Such extrajudicial exposure of the jury pool to a skewed,
unreliable version of the facts flies in the face of “the requirement that the jury’s verdict
be based on evidence received in open court, not from outside sources.” Sheppard v.
Maxwell, 384 U.S. at 351. Moreover, Bui was an essential prosecution witness whose
credibility the news media unfairly bolstered by portraying him as a hero. See, e.g.,
United States v. Richardson, 651 F.2d at 1254 (media exposure may have prejudiced
jurors’ assessment of witness’s credibility).

Tenth, it was reported that the trial court denied Duong’s motion to represent

29



himself. 2:CT 323. At least two kinds of prejudicewcould have stemmed from this
information. A prospective juror could have inferred from this information that Duong
and his lawyer were in conflict. In addition, in the absence of instructions, prospective
jurors could have inferred that the trial court’s ruling reflected its opinion of Duong’s
guilt or innocence. See, CALJIC 17.30.

Finally, extensive media coverage continued throughout Duong’s trial. 2:CT 316-
325; 1:RT 131-132. Indeed, the morning of January &, 2003, after prospective jurors
had assembled for jury selection, the San Gabriel Tribune published an article about the
case. 4:RT 488. At least 10 prospective jurors indicated in their questionnaires that they
had or may have heard or read about the case.'® 5:CT 1489, 1501; 6:CT 1641; 7:.CT
1851, 1961, 2012; 8:CT 2139, 2257, 2355; 10:CT 1628. In 2000, a wanted poster with
Duong’s name and photograph had appeared on America’s Most Wanted, a nationally
broadcast television show. 1:RT 131. As for exposure of prospective jurors to local print
media, the trial court recalled that the San Gabriel Valley Tribune had approximately
27,000 subscribers. 1:RT 133. Other publications that may have reported on the case
included the Pasadena Star, the Inland Valley Bulletin, and the Old Progress Bulletin.
1:RT 133. During voir dire, the trial court asked some prospective jurors to raise their
hands if they subscribed to the Daily Bulletin, the San Gabriel Valley Tribune, or the Los
Angeles Times. 4:RT 458, 484, 510, 539. In one group, seven prospective jurors raised
their hands. 4:RT 484. In another group of jurors, a few jurors indicated that they
subscribed to each publication. 4:RT 510. In another group, two jurors raised their

hands. 4:RT 539.

"Jury selection in this case commenced in October 2002. 2:RT 195.
Duong then received a continuance and the jurors summoned in 2002 were
dismissed. 2:RT 318, 329, 341. The court summoned a new group of
prospective jurors in January 2003. 3:RT 395-398, 403; 4:RT 451. This
claim refers only to selection of jurors summoned in January 2003.
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The trial court and counsel questioned threé brospective alternate jurors who
indicated on their questionnaires that they had been exposed to media about this case.!’
5:RT 815-821. One prospective juror admitted that the week she was to report for jury
duty, she read an article about this case in the San Gabriel Valley Tribune. 5:RT 817-818.
Another prospective juror recalled television coverage of the case on the evening news a
couple of years earlier. 5:RT 818-819. The third prospective juror indicated that she had
read something about the case probably right after the crime occurred; she had lived in Fl
Monte, so the story caught her eye. 5:RT 819-820. She also recalled that the names of the
people in the article were Asian. 5:RT 820. The trial court excused for cause only the
prospective juror who had read about the case that week. 5:RT 821. Over Duong’s
objection, the trial court permitted news media to take and publish photographs of Duong
in civilian clothing, and indicated that it would admonish jurors to stay away from news
media. 6:RT 854-855. The trial court permitted news media to photograph pretrial
proceedings and opening statements. 1:CT 126-128, 201-203. In addition, a local
television station was allowed to video record all participants in Duong’s sentencing and
to audio record the trial court only. 5:CT 1252-1255.

Before opening statements, the trial court admonished jurors to avoid all media
coverage of the case. 6:RT 859. However, the trial court’s earlier admonitions focused
only on local newspapers. 4v:RT 458,484,510-511, 539; 5:RT 816; 6:RT 855. Thus it is
unclear whether jurors, not otherwise admonished, continued to watch television accounts
about the case. For these reasons, the nature and extent of the media coverage in this
case militated in favor of a change of venue.

3. Duong’s Status Within the Community Called For A Change Of
Venue.

"The record is silent as to why the trial court did not privately
question other prospective jurors who indicated in questionnaires that they
were exposed to media about the case.
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Duong did not live in Los Angeles County, but was there only to attend a
birthday party at the International Club. 9:RT 1449. Moreover, he was a reputed gang
member who was captured only after a national manhunt. Because Duong was
“friendless in the community” his status favored a change of venue. Maine v. Superior
Court, 68 Cal. 2d 375, 388 (1968).

4. The Prominence of the Victims Called For A Change Of Venue

The status of the victims in the community is a factor in evaluating the risk of the
prejudice that will ensue absent a change of venue. Martinez v. Superior Court, 29
Cal.3d at 584. As occurred here, sympathy-generating media coverage can thrust
previously anonymous victims into positions of public prominence. /d. Although Ms.
Dang, Mr. Norman, Mr. Tang, and Mr. Tram were not public figures when they were
alive, news reports describing a wounded Ms. Dang laying in the arms of her grieving
boyfriend, Mr. Tang being gunned down on his twenty second birthday, and Mr. Norman
killed while attempting to fulfill his dream of working as a disc jockey rendered their
status “significant.” Id. The significance of the victims’ posthumous prominence is
amplified when considered in light of media portrayals of Duong as a dangerous Asian
gang member, from whom witnesses must be protected. /d.

Therefore, the status of the victims in the community also weighed in favor of a
change of venue.

C. The Trial Court’s Error Requires Reversal

“:Science with all its advances has not given us instruments for determining
when the impact of . . . newspaper exploitation has spent itself or whether the powerful
impression bound to be made by such inflaming articles as here preceded the trial can be
dissipated in the mind of the average juror by the tame and often pedestrian proceedings
in court.”” Maine v. Superior Court, 68 Cal. 2d at 387, quoting, Stroble v. California, 343
U.S. 181, 201 (1952) (Frankfurter, J., dissenting). However, even in the absence of such
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precise measures, the record below makes clear thaf the trial court’s error resulted in
constitutionally intolerable prejudice.

Such prejudice was amplified by the trial court’s failure to exclude the media
from proceedings at which the prosecutor made allegations about the safety of witnesses.
Trial courts must take appropriate action to ensure a criminal defendant a fair trial.
Sheppard v. Maxwell, 384 U.S. at 363. This includes imposing restrictions on the press
where (1) media coverage is extensive; (2) other measures would not protect the
defendant’s rights; and (3) it is probable that the proposed restraint would protect the
rights of the defendant. Nebraska Press Association v. Stuart, 427 U.S. 539, 562, 565-567
(1976). By failing to exclude the press from proceedings at which the prosecutor implied
that there were threats to the safety of witnesses, the trial court paved the way for the
prosecutor to improperly use the media for “partisan advantage.” Id. at 555, n.4. The
most egregious example of the prosecutor trying the case in the media were his in-court
comments, in the presence of the press, indicating that a federal court had sealed the
identities of two witnesses because it feared for their safety. The prosecutor’s comments
would have been prejudicial under any circumstances. However, in this case, where the
media also reported that Duong was a gang member and the case was gang related, the
prosecutor’s comments were nothing short of explosive. The threat posed by the
prosecutor’s comments and other inflammatory coverage played out when a prospective
juror, in front of other prospective jurors, demanded to know whether the jurors would be
safe or whether their jury service might lead to gang reprisals and informed the trial court
that he had discussed these concerns several other jurors. 5:RT 638, 726. Also
noteworthy were the expressed fears of victim Dang’s father and sister, each of whom
testified for the prosecution, about their safety and their fear of gang reprisals. 16:RT
2770.

It is especially troubling that the comments about the federal judge’s motives for

sealing the identities of witnesses originated with the prosecutor, “‘because of the special
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regard the jury has for the prosecutor.”” People v. Bblion, 23 Cal.3d 208, 213 (1979),
quoting Vess, Walking a Tightrope: A Survey of Limitations On The Prosecutor’s Closing
Argument, 64 J.Crim.L. & Criminology 22, 28 (1973). As if these incendiary comments
in the presence of news media were not enough, the prosecutor then exacerbated the
prejudice in closing arguments by hammering into the jury’s minds that key witnesses
feared for their safety. 12:RT 1949-1950.

In sum, the media coverage of this trial continued through jury selection and until
the end of trial. In addition to gang allegations and comments about the s£fety of
witnesses, reporting included highly inflammatory information about the national
manhunt for Duong, emotionally charged information about the victims, information
about other robberies and homicides in which Duong was allegedly implicated,
information that was at best misleading, information designed to incite prejudice based on
race and national origin, and other explosive material. Critically, the trial court failed to
restrict the presence of media in the courtroom when parties discussed baseless, but
inflammatory innuendo that the safety of witnesses was compromised. The convergence
of these factors made it impossible for Duong to receive a fair trial in Los Angeles
County.

Accordingly, the trial court’s failure to change venue violated Duong’s
constitutional rights to due process, equal protection, a fair trial and impartial jury, and
reliable penalty determination. U.S. Const., Amends. V, VI, VIII, XIV; Cal. Const., art. I,
§§ 7, 15, 16. The guilt verdicts, special circumstance finding, and penalty verdict must be

reversed.

II. THE TRIAL COURT’S FAILURE TO SUPPRESS FRUITS
OF THE UNCONSTITUTIONAL SEIZURE AND SEARCH
OF THE FORD EXPEDITION REQUIRES REVERSAL OF
DUONG’S CONVICTIONS AND DEATH SENTENCE

The trial court denied Duong his rights under the Fourth, Sixth, Eighth and

Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and their California
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counterparts to be free from unreasonable searches énd seizures, to due process of law,
and from arbitrary imposition of the death penalty when it failed to suppress evidence
retrieved during an unreasonable warrantless seizure of a Ford Expedition that was
nowhere near him at the time of his arrest and that took place at least six hours later.

A. Proceedings Below

Six hours after Duong’s July 16, 2001 arrest, law enforcement without a warrant
seized a Ford Expedition registered to Timothy Mukasa outside the building where
Duong was arrested. 1:RT 159-173, 3:RT 359-369.

On September 25, 2002, Duong filed, pursuant to Penal Code section 1538.5'
and the state and federal constitutions, a written motion to suppress items recovered
during the search of the Expedition, and items seized during a search of a residence, 1601
West Carriage Drive, Santa Ana, California. 2 CT 290-305." Duong later withdrew the
motion to suppress the fruits of the residence search. 1:RT 180.

On October 2, 2002, the prosecutor opposed in writing Duong’s suppression
motion, arguing that the search of the Expedition was a valid vehicle inventory search
consistent with Vehicle Code section 22651(h)(1). 2:CT 308-310. The same day, the trial
court held a hearing on Duong’s motion to suppress evidence; law enforcement officers
Robert Sharpnack, Edwin Everett, and Brian Harris testified.?® 1:RT 145-182. Counsel
stipulated that the search was not conducted pursuant to a warrant, but, rather, as an

inventory search. 1:RT 145. Duong argued that because Harris received the Expedition

18 Penal Code section 1538.5(a)(1)(A) permits a defendant to
move to suppress evidence that discovered as the result of an
unreasonable warrantless search or seizure.

1 Duong’s original and supplemental 1538.5 motions and the
prosecutor’s responses are incorporated by reference herein.

20 Their testimony is summarized in section C of this claim,

below.
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key about six hours after Duong’s arrest, and the actual search may have taken place up to
nine hours after his arrest, there was no longer probable cause to search the vehicle
without a warrant. 1:RT 177.

The prosecutor conceded that Duong had standing to contest the search and
seizure of the Expedition registered to Mukasa, but argued that any delay in impounding
and searching it was irrelevant. 1:RT 176, 180. The prosecutor also indicated that Duong
was not in the Expedition at the time of his arrest. 1:RT 141.

On October 4, 2002, Duong filed a supplemental written motion to suppress
items seized from the Expedition, arguing that Duong was neither driving nor in control
of the vehicle within the meaning of Vehicle Code section 22651(h)(1), and even if he
were, law enforcement were not following standardized policies when they searched for
and seized the vehicle. 4:CT 866-868. The prosecutor filed a supplemental response to
that motion on December 9, 2002. 4:CT 904-907.

The suppression hearing continued on December 9, 2002; witnesses Edwin
Everett and Randall Lawton testified?'. 3:RT 357-378. The prosecutor argued that the
Expedition was inventoried pursuant to policies of the Costa Mesa Police Department.
3:RT 374-375. The prosecutor further contended that the impoundment was timely
because law enforcement were continually working on the case from the time they
arrested Duong until the time they impounded the Expedition; Duong did not need the
vehicle during that time because he was in custody. 3:RT 375-376.

Duong countered that the issue was not whether the police department’s policy
was to inventory impounded vehicles. 3:RT 376-377. Instead, the relevant inquiry was
the propriety of the impoundment which occurred when, more than six hours after
Duong’s arrest, an officer inserted a Ford key into every Ford in the parking lot. 3:RT
376-377. By putting the key in every Ford vehicle in the lot, law enforcement conducted

2! Their testimony is summarized in section C of this claim, below.
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a search that was unauthorized by any caselaw or department policies. 3:RT 377.

Following counsels’ arguments, the trial court denied Duong’s suppression
motion, finding that the purposes of impounding the Expedition were to remove an
unattended vehicle from private property and to benefit the owner. 3:RT 378. In
addition, the trial court held that inserting the recovered Ford key into every Ford vehicle
in the parking lot was not a search. 3:RT 378.

B. Evidence Before the Trial Court

On July 16, 2001, between 4:45 and 5:00pm, Robert Sharpnack and other law
enforcement officers arrested Duong pursuant to a warrant on the basketball court at a 24
Hour Fitness Center in Costa Mesa. 1:RT 147-148, 3:RT 358.

Shortly after Duong’s arrest, Officer Russell Lawton viewed videotapes of
Duong on and near the basketball court. 3:RT 372. Lawton then went to the area of the
court where Duong had been and retrieved several items. 3:RT 372. These included a
July 16, 2001 ticket from the parking lot that time-stamped 1623 hours, a Volkswagon
key chain with four keys, including a key and remote to a Ford vehicle, a Motorola cell
phone, and a 24 Hour Fitness Center identification card in the name of Long Hoang. 1:RT
157-159, 3:RT 365, 367-368, 372. Lawton asked witnesses at the basketball court
whether the property belonged to them; none of them claimed ownership. 3:RT 373.
Lawton gave the items to Everett and told him that the key belonged to Duong. 3:RT 366,
373. In addition, Everett independently determined from the recovered parking lot ticket,
identification card, and Ford key that Duong was in possession of a vehicle. 3:RT 366.

Everett then gave the Ford key to Sergeant Archer who gave it to Officer Brian
Harris with instructions to determine whether the key fit any of the cars in the parking lot.
1:RT 159, 165, 168-169, 3:RT 366, 368-369. Harris’s supplemental report, dated July 16,
2001, indicates that he received the Expedition key and began searching the lot at about
11:00pm. 1:RT 171.

After receiving the key, Harris tried it in every Ford in the 24 Hour Fitness
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Center parking lot. 1:RT 169, 173. After he matchéd the key to a Ford Expedition,
Harris put the key in the door, tried the lock, and notified his supervisor who instructed
Harris to remain with the Expedition until a tow truck arrived. 1:RT 169, 172. Everett
ordered the Expedition impounded after he learned that Harris had located the vehicle that
matched the key. 1:RT 159. When the tow truck arrived, Harris instructed the driver to
wear gloves. 1:RT 170. Harris followed the towed Expedition about four or five miles to
the Costa Mesa police department where Everett took custody of it. 1:RT 170, 172.
Harris never searched the Expedition. 1:RT 170, 173.

In his search of the Expedition, Everett found in the center console some metal
knuckles and a black bag containing a Colt .45 caliber handgun. 1:RT 160, 162, 166. In
the driver’s door pouch, Everett found a wallet containing a credit card in the name of
Soewin Chan, a check and Visa card in the name of Christine Chen, a credit card in the
name of Long Hoang, a California Identification Card in the name of Long Hoang with
Duong’s photograph on it, and some miscellaneous paperwork. 1 RT 160, 162, 166-167.

The same day, law enforcement requested a warrant to search the residence
where Duong purportedly lived. 1:RT 149. That warrant was faxed to police at 1:00am
on July 17, 2001. 1:RT 149-150, 155, 160-161, 360.

C. The Inventory Search of the Expedition Resulting from an
Unreasonable Warrantless Search and Seizure, Violated Duong’s
Federal and State Constitutional Rights

The trial court accepted the prosecutor’s repeated arguments that law
enforcement conducted a proper inventory search on a vehicle impounded Pursuant to
Vehicle Code section 22651(h)(1) and police department policies. As explained below,
this argument is meritless.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution, made applicable to

the states by the Fourteenth Amendment, prohibits unreasonable searches and seizures
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where an individual has a reasonable expectation of privacy.”? U.S. Const. Amend. I'V;
Mapp v. Ohio, 367 U.S. 643 (1961); Rakas v. lllinois, 439 U.S. 128 (1978). Pursuant to
California Constitution, article 1, section 28, subdivision (a), California courts may only
exclude evidence obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment where controlling
federal cases require exclusion. See In re Lance W., 37 Cal. 3d 873, 887-890 (1985).

“The impoundment of an automobile is a seizure within the meaning of the
Fourth Amendment.” Miranda v. City of Cornelius, 429 F. 3d 858, 862 (9" Cir. 2005).
However, vehicles are afforded less Fourth Amendment protection than homes both
because of their inherent mobility and because there is a diminished expectation of
privacy as to vehicles. South Dakota v. Opperman, 428 U.S. 364, 367-368 (1976).

Despite this reduced protection, the warrantless search or seizure of a vehicle is
“per se” unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment unless one of a “few specifically
established and well-delineated” exceptions applies. Arizona v. Gant, 556 U.S. 332, 338
(2009); Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 357 (1967); Thompson v. Louisiana, 469
U.S. 17, 20-21 (1984); United States v. Hawkins, 249 F.3d 867, 872 (9" Cir. 2001). One
such exception allows police to search or seize contemporaneously a vehicle under the
immediate control of a person under arrest. Preston v. United States, 376 U.S. 364, 367
(1964). Another exception permits police to conduct inventory searches of impounded
vehicles to (1) protect the owner’s property, (2) protect law enforcement from claims
against lost or stolen property, and (3) protect police from potential danger. South Dakota
v. Opperman, 428 U.S. at 369. Such inventory searches are consistent with the Fourth

Amendment only when the vehicle is lawfully impounded and law enforcement follow

2 Although the Expedition was not registered to Duong, the
prosecutor conceded his standing to challenge the search. For
this reason, Duong does not address herein his expectation of
privacy in the vehicle, its compartments, or its contents. 1:RT
176, 180.
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standard procedures. Ibid. at 376; Colorado v. Berﬁne, 479 U.S. 367, 371 (1987).

1. The Search of the Expedition Was Not Incident to Duong’s
Arrest.

In California, Vehicle Code section 22651(h)(1) allows law enforcement to
impound a vehicle without a warrant “[w]hen an officer arrests a person dfiving or in
control of a vehicle for an alleged offense and the officer is, by this code or other law,
required or permitted to take, and does take, the person into custody.” However, when
government authorities, relying on Vehicle Code section 22651(h)(1), impound a vehicle,
“the statutory authorization does not, in and of itself, determine the constitutional
reasonableness of the seizure.” People v. Williams, 145 Cal. App. 4™ 756, 762 (2006).
While states may develop search and seizure laws to aid law enforcement, they may not
“authorize police conduct which trenches upon Fourth Amendment rights, regardless of
the labels which it attaches to such conduct.” Sibron v. New York, 392 U.S. 40, 60-61
(1968). Thus, irrespective of any state statute, the prosecution has the burden of proving
that the seizure of the vehicle is reasonable within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment.
Miranda v. City of Cornelius, 429 F. 3d at 862, 864-865.

Here, the prosecutor relied on statutory language permitting impoundment of a
vehicle “when” the person “driving or in control” of that vehicle is arrested. Vehicle
Code § 22651(h)(1) (emphasis added.) This language mirrors the Supreme Court’s
holdings permitting the “contemporaneous” search or seizure incident to arrest of a
vehicle within the “accused’s immediate control.” Preston v. United States, 376 U.S. at
367 (emphasis added). The prosecutor argued that the Expedition was within Duong’s
control at the time of the seizure because police recovered the key to the Expedition and a
ticket from the 24 Hour Fitness Center Parking lot from the area where Duong was
arrested. 1:RT 175-176. This argument fails because the justification for seizing or
searching a vehicle without a warrant is “absent where a search is remote in time or place

from the arrest. Once an accused is under arrest and in custody, then a search made at
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another place, without a warrant, is simply not incicient to the arrest.” Preston v. United
States, 376 U.S. at 367. Moreover, under Arizona v. Gant, 556 U.S. at 335, the
warrantless search violates the fourth amendment in this context because the exception to
obtaining a warrant “does not authorize a vehicle search incident to a recent occupant's
arrest after the arrestee has been secured and cannot access the interior of the vehicle.”
Duong was not in or near the Expedition when he was arrested and was even
farther from it when it was impounded and searched. Although police believed that
Duong had arrived at the fitness center in a vehicle, they identified no vehicle associated
with Duong until at least six hours after he was taken into custody, and then only after an
officer inserted the key recovered from the basketball court in every Ford vehicle in the
parking lot. For these reasons, Duong was not a “recent occupant” of the Expedition: he
was too far removed spatially and temporally from the Expedition both at the time of his
arrest and the seizure and search of the vehicle. See, e.g., Thompson v. Louisiana, 469
U.S. at 19 (where police, who testified they had time to secure a warrant, conducted the
search about 35 minutes after defendant left the scene, the search was not
contemporaneous to arrest); United States v. Chadwick, 433 U.S. 1, 15 (1977), overruled
on other grounds by California v. Acevedo, 500 U.S. 565, 579 (1991) (search conducted
over an hour after a defendant’s arrest was invalid); United States v. Osife, 398 F.3d
1143, 1146 (9™ Cir. 2005) (search and seizure of vehicle proper where defendant had
recently occupied his car and was standing next to it at time of arrest); United States v.
Esparza, 2007 U.S. Dist. Lexis 66455, n. 2 (D. Idaho) (where defendant, who was
arrested on a valid warrant, fled to an adjacent residence and had no access to his car, the
search of the car was “not incident to the arrest because Esparza was not an occupant or
recent occupant of the vehicle — he was not in proximity, spatially, to the vehicle at the
time of the arrest.”); United States v. Olivia, 2006 U.S. Dist Lexis 2558, n. 1 (N.D.Cal.)
(although defendant’s arrest was constitutional, the search of his truck was not “incident

to arrest” where defendant had left the vehicle 20 minutes earlier and defendant was in an
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apartment living room during the search).

Furthermore, just as they obtained a warrant to search the apartment where they
believed Duong was living, police could have obtained a warrant to search the
Expedition. Clearly, had there been any urgency or exigency surrounding the
impoundment of the Expedition, law enforcement would have immediately identified and
searched or impounded it.

2.  There Were No Other Legitimate Reasons to Impound the
Vehicle Without a Warrant

The State’s argument that the search was a proper inventory search of an
impounded vehicle also fails. None of the caretaking justifications the High Court set
forth for conducting routine inventory searches were present here. The time that elapsed
between Duong’s arrest and the search for and seizure of the Expedition make clear that
law enforcement did not search for and seize it to protect the owner’s property, shield
themselves against liability, to protect themselves or anyone else from potential danger, or
to determine whether the car was either abandoned or stolen. South Dakota v. Opperman,
428 U.S. at 369. Thus, the trial court’s finding that the removal of the car was to benefit
the owner clearly is belied by the evidence before it.

Moreover, the trial court’s finding that police impounded the Expedition from the
24 Hour Fitness Center to remove an unattended vehicle from private property also lacked
an evidentiary basis. A “trial court cannot assume facts for its decision.” Barrett v.
Stanislaus County Employees Retirement Ass’n, 189 Cal.App. 3d 1593, 1614, n.8 (1989).

Even assuming the police were motivated to remove an unattended vehicle from
private property, they lacked statutory authority to do so.

Vehicle Code section 22653 permits the removal from private property of a
vehicle under these limited circumstances: (a) where the vehicle has been reported stolen
or embezzled, (b) if the vehicle was involved in and left the scene of a traffic accident, or

(c) “at the request of the property owner,” when an officer arrests a person “driving or in
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control of the vehicle” and “takes the person arrested before a magistrate without any
unnecessary delay.” Cal. Vehicle Code § 22653(a)-(c) (emphasis added).

No evidence before the trial court suggested that the Expedition was stolen,
involved in a traffic accident, or removed at the request of the owner of the 24 Hour
Fitness Center parking lot. Thus, absent facts not in evidence, the trial court could have
found no statutory basis for removing the unattended Expedition.

D. The Trial Court’s Errors Require Reversal

The erroneous admission of evidence seized in violation of a defendant’s Fourth
Amendment rights requires reversal unless the government can prove the error harmless
beyond a reasonable doubt. Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24 (1967). It cannot do
so here.

The unconstitutionally seized evidence was important at the guilt phase, because
it fueled the prosecutor’s improper argument that Duong was a bad, dangerous person
whose weapon of choice was a Colt .45 Springfield Model 1911 semiautomatic handgun.
This evidence was all the more prejudicial because it served an improper purpose.

The identity of the shooter at International Club was not in dispute. It was
therefore unnecessary for the prosecutor to demonstrate the shooter’s identity by tying
him to a specific weapon. Nevertheless, the prosecutor capitalized on law enforcement’s
failure to locate the .45 caliber weapon used at International Club, by presenting
irrelevant evidence that Duong had been in possession of .45 caliber handguns with no
link to the International Club shootings. 7 RT 1114-1128, 1147-1148, 9 RT 1354, 1374-
1375, 11 RT 1796, 1799. The only ostensible purpose for such evidence in this case was
to persuade the jury that Duong was a dangerous person who routinely carried a loaded
weapon.

The .45 caliber handgun retrieved in the search of the Expedition was central to
this effort. In opening statements, the prosecutor promised to present expert evidence that

although the murder weapon was never recovered, it could have been a Colt .45
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Springfield model 1911 handgun. 6:RT 872. Accofding to the prosecutor, the Colt .45
found in the closet of Duong’s girlfriend, when considered with the Colt .45 retrieved
from the Expedition “is evidence of the fact that Mr. Duong has a personal choice for this
particular weapon.” 6:RT 873-874.

In addition, Detective Everett testified that the Colt .45 he found in the
Expedition was fully loaded and ready to fire with a bullet in the chamber. 8:RT 1228-
1229. Thus, the admission of this evidence demonstrated not only that Duong had
possessed more than one Colt .45, but also that, on at least one occasion separate from the
homicides, he carried a loaded weapon— a highly prejudicial fact that was wholly
irrelevant to the jury’s determination of guilt.

In closing argument, the prosecutor again emphasized the importance of this
eviden